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Chapter 1

I, Too, Was Young Once


In Fitchburg, Massachusetts, on Davis Street, lived the family of Francis (Frank)  Briggs, born in neighboring Petersham in 1851, and his wife, Catherine Etta Leamy, born in East Templeton, now Baldwinville, in 1854.


Fitchburg, then, was a community of 39,000 people, located in north-central Worcester County.  Although it was one of the largest cities in that county, in the lives of its population it remained a small town of tightly knit enclaves that retained their national and linguistic identities.


The Irish and the Italians settled near Water Street where St. Bernard’s Catholic parish developed.  The Finnish immigrants settled in the Mechanics Street area.  The English favored West Fitchburg and the French-Canadians Cleghorn.  These were neighborhoods of their own, differing in language, religion, and cultural backgrounds.


In spite of the diversity, there was a civility that seemed to bridge the valleys.  My Aunt Emily, a teacher, loved the children of the Finnish immigrants and was referred to as “Beloved Teacher.”


Fitchburg was affected by the Civil War as was every community in the country.  Men went off to war without the typical evasions we see today.  History bears witness to the delegation from Massachusetts appearing over the hills ready to join their comrades in the Civil War.


The Nashua River flowed through the city, lined with aging mills.  Earlier, there was little left in the way of industry.  There was only a paper mill.  But gradually, some six other industries developed, lending a healthier diversification to this thriving “City by the River,” just ten miles from New Hampshire and fifty miles from Boston.


Everett Briggs once wrote to the local newspaper, Sentinel and Enterprise, his verse which captures a cherished memory of his former hometown:




On Fitchburg hills, the berries blue;




   The meadows all with daisies pied;




The goldenrod and gentians, too;




   A world, when young, I once espied.


I never liked snakes, but they also liked those big, juicy blueberries.  Occasionally, when I disturbed one, he would come rolling out of the brush, and roll, quick as a flash, down the hill.  They called them “hoop snakes,” black and round as an automobile tire.  When I would describe them to folks out of state, they thought I was joking


In some infallible dictionaries, the hoop snake was one “alleged in folklore to take the tail in mouth and roll like a hoop.”  Well, I regret having to trample on their infallibility, but I know what I saw when my eyes had no need of spectacles.  I later met other men who described snakes they had accosted exactly as I described the snakes I saw in the blueberry patches on Fitchburg hills.  They thought the arrogant dictionary a joke.


But it was no joke to poor John Fitch, who became the namesake of the city when the Nashaway Indians carried him off to Canada in 1748.  The Fitch family was numbered among the colonial Briggs relations.


Here, the Briggs family grew to a merry group of fourteen children.  Somewhere in the Bible Saint Paul is quoted as saying that the mother of many children will get to Heaven.


Good news for Grandma Katherine Etta Leamy:



BRIGGS, FRANCIS (FRANK) M., b. in Petersham, 2 Nov. 1851,



d. in Fitchburg, 6 Feb. 1916; m. 31 Dec. 1873, Katherine Etta Leamy,



b. 2 Feb. 1854, in East Templeton, d. 11 Feb. 1911, in Fitchburg; dau. 



of Margaret Franklin and Timothy Leamy, son of Daniel (d. 1855, in



Hubbardston, m. Winifred Owen, who d. 1854.


The first child of Frank and Katherine (Leamy) Briggs, , Francis Xavier, was born in July 1875 in Athol.  But he died, thirteen years later, the first of many sorrows for a good mother.  Then came John Sebastian.  Born in 1877, he died four years later.  The first girl, born in 1878 in Athol, Stella Josephine, lived to her eighties.  To me, Aunt Stella was the kindest of all the children who followed her.


Yearly, she came from her home in Dorchester to visit us, her arms full of gifts of every kind.  She always wrote ahead, and I was deputed to meet her at the railroad depot.  She was a lady of noble proportions, and I suspected from her heavy breathing that the dear soul had not the best of hearts.


Aunt Stella was married to Ebenezer K. Pratt, member of an old New England Protestant family.  They had one son, Eben, a feisty first cousin of mine.  He was born in 1912 in Boston.


Eben loved my baby sister, Willetta Annie Etta, born June 30 in the same year.  Like Eben, she was nicknamed “feisty”—alive, vigorous, innovative, daring.


One afternoon, Eben and I were walking down the street in Dorchester.  Along came a trolley car.  Suddenly, there was a spark on the overhead electric line.  The connector had snapped off.  Out went Eben.  More sparks as he attempted to restore the connection. 


The motorman popped out of the car.  Indignantly, he put poor Eben in his place.  Eben just smiled and remarked, “Well, I tried.”


My little Annie (we always called her by her middle name), on the way home from school, climbed into a parked pickup truck on Cane Street.  She released the brakes, and the truck stirred.  Before it could start in reverse, I sprang into the front seat, crowding Annie out of the way.  I braked the monster, and fumed a bit.


Feisty, I, too?  A matter of genes, I suppose, on the chromosomes.


Ebenezer K. Pratt was a self-made man.  He kept his home in good condition.  On one occasion he went up on the roof of his Dorchester home to check the tiles.  Aunt Stella was fearful, because her husband was then an old man.  I still hear Aunt Stella saying to her son, “Eben, tell your Pratt father to come down off that roof.”


When years later I was about to leave for Japan as a missionary, Mr. Pratt said to me, “Well, Everett, if this is your hobby, I assume it is all right.”


Aunt Stella Pratt of Dorchester was of medium height, with avoirdupois to spare.  Like most obese folks, she was the jolly sort, except when it came to religion.  Religion for her was her own brand of Protestantism.  Although her grandfather, John Sebastian Briggs, had married in the Catholic Church, he never converted to the ancestral faith.  But his wife, Mary Ann Doyle, raised the children as Catholics.  So Aunt Stella’s parents were Catholics, and all but she were raised Catholics.  Why she was the exception, I never knew.  Her birthplace, Athol, Massachusetts, was a dreadfully bigoted place, and her Protestant relatives appear to have influenced Aunt Stella.  When she married Ebenezer K. Pratt, the die was cast.


One day an ordained priest, after my return from Japan, I received a telephone call from Aunt Stella.  She was close to her last gasp.  She said she wanted to be with the rest of us Catholics.  I said, “Aunt Stella, do you really feel for us?”


“I do,” she said.


So I called the nearby parish, and a priest came shortly thereafter and received her into the Church.


Downstairs, I met her son, Eben.  Someone had told him that I said another Catholic priest was visiting his mother because she had sent for me.  Eben was confused.  He said simply, “She brought me up in this faith.”


I replied, “Eben, if your dear mother dies, do what you think best for her.”


When we kids were full of doughnuts, Aunt Stella was full of religion.  Like her brothers, Edwin Charles, Fred and Leslie, and her sister, Emily, Aunt Stella always referred to God as “Our Heavenly Father.”  It was almost a Briggs mantra.


When my sister, Catherine Rita, died on February 5, 1980, Aunt Emily, the last leaf on her family tree, consoled me, assuring me that Rita (as we called her) was now safely in the arms of “Our Heavenly Father.”


Aunt Emily was the fourteenth child of my grandparents.  Her brother Arthur died in childhood, leaving her as baby of the family.  She was a self-made success.  At the age of eighteen, she entered Fitchburg Normal School to prepare for her life’s work as a teacher.  When her father died in 1916, he was waked in the parlor of the family home on Davis Street.


One of his brothers objected to the candles burning, one on each side of his casket  “What are these things doing here?” he asked rather impudently.  Aunt Emily, still a young  girl, explained that Catholics used candles to honor the deceased and encourage a religious atmosphere.  “There is no need of such things,” the brother truculently countered.


Said Aunt Emily, “My father, your brother, was a Catholic.  If you don’t like the way we do things, you needn’t come here and find fault.”  That did it!  We never again had any associations with that side of the Briggs family.


It has always been a source of wonderment to me how people so religious as my Briggs relatives could be so intolerant.  They seemed unable to recover from the rebellion they termed the Reformation, in England.  Another more distant Briggs relative, not a Catholic, once remarked to me: “Poor John Briggs (great-grandfather) must have had a terrible life with those bigoted people in Athol.”  It seems John did.


As soon as John Briggs announced his intention to marry an Irish Catholic, all hell broke loose among the pious of Athol, Massachusetts.  John actually had to leave home.  He went to live with his grandmother, Hannah Mann (Briggs) until he married.  Thus, his name does not appear with his family in the census records under his parents’ names.  It is found with the names of his maternal grandparents, the Mann family.    The bigots of Athol drove John to marry in Boston.  There he committed the unforgivable sin of marrying in the Catholic Church.


All his relatives counseled him against marrying “that Irish Catholic.”  I could understand the reaction of John’s relatives.  After all, their Yankee pedigree was replete with Deacons and Reverends.  It never occurred to them that their European lineage was studded with the names of Catholic clergymen and Catholic Saints.  The English Reformation, so-called, will go on forever.  Protestants must continue to justify the break with their ancestral faith or return to the home which they were induced to leave.  Saintly Henry VIII, in robbing the Catholic Church, had enriched 40,000 families in England.  Possibly, many of those who received the ill-gotten gains were too ashamed to return to the ancestral faith.  Some of the loot was passed down to persons who colonized the New World.


My grandfather, Frank Briggs, was their first child and their eldest son.  Owing to the Protestant influence of his relatives, he was not closely attached to the Catholic religion in his younger years.  Perhaps this was why Aunt Stella hesitated to enter the Catholic Church.


The Doyles were immigrants from Athlone, in Ireland.  En route to the United States, Mary Ann’s brother Luke died and was buried at sea.  Although her husband, John Briggs, did not become a Catholic, Mary Ann Doyle reared their children as Catholics with John’s permission.  In an intolerant society, he ws a tolerant man.  Thus it was that my grandfather returned to the ancestral faith of the Briggses.


Our family had always been Catholic, from the very days of the Norman conquest, in France and England.  But an English Briggs got “cold feet” in the reign of Henry VIII.  It was his descendants who came to this country.  Catholics, of course, were ineligible to emigrate inasmuch as they could not take the “oath” to lecherous Henry and his offspring.


I was riding, one day, in England, in a sightseeing bus.  The guide called out: “I call your attention now to a short street on your left.  We call it the ‘Spanish Steps.’  That church is the only one we did not steal from the Catholics of England.”  Some of the passengers stirred uneasily in their seats.


Great-grandfather, John Sebastian Briggs, was hospitalized before he died in Quincy.  One day, while still very ill, he sat in bed, staring at his dinner tray.  He was too weak to eat.  Along came Father Garrahan, Irish priest, later famous in Framingham.  He was at that time stationed in Orient Heights.  Passing through the ward, he noticed Great-grandfather’s predicament.  Spontaneously he stopped and began to feed the sick man.  Word of the incident reached the ears of his Masonic brethren, who were outraged.  When John died later at Sailors Home in Quincy, they turned out in force, ritual aprons and all.  Not even the love of his wife, Mary Ann Doyle, could estrange great-grandfather from his Masonic brethren. 


However, both Protestants and Catholics were religious, even spiritual.  Some of our Protestant relatives were bigoted without even a thought that their ancestors were wrong in leaving the Catholic Church.  We were wrong, they were right.  But in one way or another, most of us were able to live in the same world.


When I went to Japan as a Catholic missionary in 1933, a distant cousin, Rev. Frank Clayton Briggs, had served the Himeji Baptist Church from 1902 to 1917.  His parishioners “sainted” him as the “Saint of Harima.” 

Francis Clayton Briggs, son of Pearl Briggs, the nephew of my paternal grandfather, was for fifteen years a missionary in Japan.  He was mustered out by the American Board of Foreign Missions, Tremont Temple, Boston, Mass.  He was the last foreign skipper on Japan’s Inland Sea.  In the Fukuin Maru (Gospel Ship), he toured the fishing communities, bringing faith and hope, and the sunshine of a well-known smile.  At his funeral service, in Himeji, Japan, he was “canonized” by his parishioners as Harima no Seijin (The Saint of Harima).  In the designs of Divine Providence, I was destined to follow Reverend Francis Briggs as missionary to Japan in 1933.  Truly, God works in mysterious ways, His wonders to perform.  I had been studying Chinese for in preparation for the China missions, when suddenly my assignment was changed to 

Japan.


When Cousin Emily Bunker went to Korea as a Catholic nun, a Protestant Briggs had preceded her as a missionary.


A Briggs is serving the Maryknoll mission in South America.  Another Briggs worked in Pakistan as a Catholic medical missionary.  Earlier, Harriet Briggs of Newton, Mass., worked with her husband in Persia (Iran),.  She died there and was buried in Istanbul.


While I served in Japan, my brother, Rev. Arthur Briggs, was a Maryknoll missionary in South China where he was cruelly stabbed while defending the tabernacle in his chapel.


The line remains divided among Catholics and Protestants.  Both sides were strong in evangelism, the Protestants going to Japan, Korea, and Persia (Iran), the Catholics going to Japan, China, Korea, Pakistan, and South America.


After Aunt Stella came Mary Frances, born 1880, who married Leon Barrows in 1900.  They had a son, Harold, born 1905, who later in life was charged with the advance advertising of Ringling Brothers, Barnum and Bailey Circus.  So we kids got into the “Big Tent.”  After the magician had sawed the lady in two, and as she lay in her coffin, while the crowd passed on to the next feature, I, with a few others, crept up on stage to see what had really happened to the lady in the coffin.


She was there, apparently double-jointed.  She had curled up in one half of the coffin, while the executioner sawed away in the safe area.  She threw a fit as we kids looked over the side of her nest.  “Scram, you brats,” she yelled with a healthy voice.


I once asked a member of the Barrows family if they were not related to the early Barrus colonists.  She said the devilish kids used to taunt her children with the nickname “Bare Ass” instead of Barrus, so we changed our name.


Mother knew Indians from her youthful days in Prince Edward Island, Canada.  There, Indians attended the parish church.  They were all business.  In and out of church they came and went, silently as a rule.  It was amazing, in a sense, that those silent people were one in faith and heart with us gabby whites.  So Mother felt that Leon Barrows was Indian by descent.  Years later, when I met Cousin Harold and discussed our family lines, he said something that bore out Mother’s feelings.  “When I was small,” said Harold, “I used to wonder why Dad kept those framed portraits of great Indian chiefs on the wall of our living room.  I did not know that they were related to us.”


Harold was a wonderful cousin, even though we seldom met.  But whenever Ringling Brothers, Barnum and Bailey Circus came to town, Harold was sure to visit us.  Never can I forget the night, in the “Big Tent,” when a blare of bugles called attention to an announcement.  “Ladies and gentlemen: We would call your attention to a special attraction in the tent on your right.  Only ten cents to see the egress.  Right that way, ladies and gentlemen.”  A young boy, I was fairly carried along with the eager crowd.  We found ourselves outside the tent.  That was one way to make room for newcomers.  We thought an egress was some sort of exotic beast.


Cousin Mary married Edward Harrington of Auburn, Massachusetts.  Like her father, she kept family heirlooms.  She had cartons of photographs, among them those of some Indian women who, she said, were relatives.  Those women revealed the finest of character in their faces.  I never was able to research their ancestry.  When later, I saw those photographs of those respectable people, marveling at their handsome facial features and their noble bearing, I was convinced that one never need be ashamed of such sterling ancestors.  They who worshipped the “Great Spirit” (a transcendent name for God) were worthy kin to devout, God-fearing Christians.


When the circus came to town, everything, wagons, animals, all, would leave the railroad depot and eventually parade along Summer Street to the tenting ground.  We were always awed by the sight of the elephants.  They strode by with their measured steps, silently on their great, soft, hooves.  Each of them was linked with the one in front, holding the other’s short, lean tail in its trunk.


The boy standing beside me, apparently wiser in this world’s lore than I, threw a plug of tobacco at a passing elephant  The monster paused, snatched up the tobacco in its tensile trunk, and in no time returned the favor to the snotty chap with a spray of smelly, discolored water.  There was nothing pachydermatous about that elephant.  It was sensitive to insult.


Then came my father, Thomas Everett, the fifth child, born in Winchendon on August 25, 1882.  He married Mary Lillian Hughes, born in Scotchfort, Prince Edward Island, Canada.  Her parents were Owen Hughes and Margaret Smith. 


My maternal grandparents in Canada were both from “The Ould Sod,” devout Roman Catholics.  Owen Hughes dug his own well, planted two farms, kept cows and poultry.  My mother, Mary, was his “pet.”


Grandpa Owen Hughes was among the six hundred enterprising Irishmen who emigrated to Canada from County Monaghan.  Although some of the émigrés borrowed money for their passage, the Hughes paid their own way.  Thus, they were not humbled to stand on the auction block as slaves, in Philadelphia.


Mother saw the gleaming Northumberland Straits every day.  It flowed at the foot of her parents’ farm.  John Owen Bell of Charlestown, husband of Aunt Annie, captained a ship that sailed from Bordens, P.I.E., into Harbor Grace, Newfoundland.  Neither Hughes nor Briggs seemed able to shrug off the fascination of flowing waters.


Grandpa Francis (Frank Melvinston) Briggs, my paternal grandparent, was born 

2 November 1851 in Petersham.  He died in Fitchburg, Mass., 6 February 1916.  He married 31 December 1873 Katherine Etta Leamy, daughter of Margaret Franklin and Timothy Leamy, son of Daniel and Winifred Quinn.


Grandfather Briggs was a stalwart man of average height.  He owned his own barber shop where he cut the hair of us two boys.  I remember a session at his barber shop.  My hair was long and curly, like the girlish locks of the 1960 hippies.


When Grandpa clicked his shears, my mother intervened.  “Oh, Grandpa.  You are not going to cut his curls, are you?’   


“Lil,” he said, using her middle name Lillian, “after all, he is a boy.”   

Mother received the long locks and carefully kept them in a napkin, at home, for years.   

Grandma Katherine was a long-suffering mother with a crowd of kids—hugging, kissing, bathing, feeding the lot of them.  She died of “dropsy” on February 11, 1911.  Her youngest child, Emily, was fifteen years old.

I remember how Father held me in his arms and lowered me to kiss his mother as she lay deceased in her home on Davis Street in Fitchburg, Mass., that February day in 1911.

Grandma’s uncle John Leamy built a home for each of his children, no mean feat in those days.

My father was a short man of average height, a bit stocky as most of the Briggs males.  His voice was baritone; his smile infectious.  He was a meek man, a stranger to resentment.  His strapping, six-foot brother, Clarence, and brother Leslie had the voices of Philadelphia lawyers, ready to rise and declaim in stentorian tones.  Father was a listener, smiling at their antics.

My father was an amiable person.  He loved his wife.  He loved his family.  He loved me, his first-born namesake.  Often he dandled me on his knee when I was small, humming to me all the time.

Thomas Everett was the fifth child of Francis M. Briggs of Petersham and Catherine Etta Leamy of East Templeton, Massachusetts.  Like other siblings, Thomas Everett had a bit of the wanderlust, a wanderjahr, before settling into work at the posh Fay Club in Fitchburg.  As a young man, he was first employed by the Magic Yeast Company.  That little, yellow cake was then the housewife’s rage.  The youthful salesman had not far to go until he was in Canada.

One day he rang the bell at the Academy of the “Little Gray Nuns” in Ottawa.  How he met a young lady there, I shall never know.  She was Mary Lillian Hughes from Prince Edward Island where her father owned two farms.  Of course, Mary Lillian Hughes had her local, hopeful beaux.  But the stocky American had magic on his side—magician in his eyes, and magic in his pocket.

While Mary Lillian was at the Academy of the Little Gray Nuns in Ottawa, Canada, her beaux used to woo her saying, “You are so enticing.”  Apparently, she was not in a hurry to marry.

But when the short man from America with the engaging smile popped the question, she could not resist the smile.  After all, there was magic in the air. 

On June 15, 1907, Thomas Everett Briggs married Mary Lillian Hughes of Prince Edward Island, Canada.  They had four children.  I was the oldest, born 27 January 1908, followed by my bother, Arthur Owen John, born 9 July 1909.  “Owen” was for Grandfather Owen Hughes.  I still wear Arthur’s black, felt hat in precious memory.

Two sisters were next:  Catherine Rita and Willetta Annie Etta.

Catherine, whom we always called Rita, was born on the 4th of July 1911, our dear little “Fire Cracker” sister, always so serene and demure.  Next came my favorite, Willetta Annie Etta, born on June 30, 1912.  Someone christened her “feisty.”  Like me, she was not slow to take action.  The urge was often right.

Mother was a quiet, thoughtful person, about Father’s height, golden haired, with winning eyes of blue.  She had a deeply spiritual dimension in her character, no doubt inherited from her mother who used to kneel on a rough board when she said her Rosary.  Grandma Hughes used to rock the house when she would suddenly break into song.  Mother frequently would break into song singing her favorite hymns:  ‘Oh, Sacred Heart!” and “Oh, Blessed Mother in Heaven!”

Now and then, she would gaze at a picture of Jesus, on a prayer print or a classic

portrait on the wall, and barely audibly say:  “Oh, that is how He looked, the poor Dear.”


I am not sure how old the hologram is.  But I wonder if that classic portrait was a holographic plate containing a pattern or interference made by another picture through a plastic prism, one picture somehow imposed on another, each of them visible at a turn of the photograph.  Was it, perchance, a glimpse of the facial imprint on the Holy Shroud vouchsafed to her yearning gaze?


Arthur was born under the aegis of a deeply religious mother.  Her outgoing devotional faith was contagious.  Arthur had his little prayer nook in the spacious orchard in which we lived.  I came upon him suddenly one day.  Not embarrassed, he said, “This is my own little chapel.”  He had a small toy altar there, a statue and a prayer print.


Catherine Rita, with Father Arthur’s serene disposition, had her mother’s devotion to the Sacred Heart.  Willetta Annie Etta, feisty like her brother Everett, had her mother’s heart of gold.


We all were born in Burbank Hospital in Fitchburg, Massachusetts.  With my bronchitis, I became a good customer of the hospital.  Gradually, I became a sporadic victim, usually at the approach of winter.


However, I was more than a worrywort to my mother and dear Doctor Donovan.  Off, monthly, to Estabrooks’ Drug Store we went for ice cream and Scott’s Emulsion or Father John’s Medicine.


Years later, when Mother’s dream and my dream of priesthood had been realized, I wondered if she was so concerned about my health because she wished, more than anything else, to see me at God’s altar.  I never forgot an incident that occurred when I was again a patient at Burbank Hospital in Fitchburg.


I was born with bronchitis.  I still remember the ambulance as they sent me to Burbank Hospital.  The driver was stamping on the lever that rang the warning bell:  Make way for Everett Briggs.


On this occasion, they kept me long enough to worry my mother.  I overheard a nurse say to another:  “Mrs. Briggs telephoned and said, ‘I want my boy to come home.’”  I mistook the reference to my mother as somehow disrespectful.  When dinner came, I pouted and wouldn’t eat a bite.


A nurse came to coax me.  “Why won’t you eat—just a little?”


“I heard her talking about my mother!”


That nurse relayed my remarks to the other nurse.  She hurried to my bedside.  “No, Everett.  I  was not talking about your mother.  I just told the other nurse that your dear mother was asking about you and wanted you home.”


My mother really pampered me.  She purchased dozens of bottles of Cod Liver Oil and Father John’s Medicine for me.  My lungs were so poor, the doctors wanted to send me to an “outdoor school” when I was in the second grade of grammar school.


Thanks to my mother, I grew out of the bronchitis and never contracted 
tuberculosis.  Thanks to her, I am 97 years of age this day, not climbing ladders anymore or walking on the roof.


However, long before that happy day, Dr. Donovan apparently would not rely on Scott’s Emulsion and Father John’s Medicine.  He advised my mother to take me out of school, at least a year, so as to improve my lungs with sunshine and fresh air.


I remember one afternoon, the principal of the public school, a Mrs. Cole, met me on the street and in what I thought were lugubrious tones, she said, “Everett, when are you coming back to school?”  I told her the doctor kept me home.  She turned sadly away.


Later in life, when I discovered that I was descended from Old King Cole, I wondered if that fine lady and I were somehow related.


One day, my mother went with me to visit a friend.  When she opened the door, she looked surprised to see me.  “Everett, your name was in the newspaper!”  Sick or deceased, I forgot the verdict.


Years later, it dawned on me that Mother had us children rather later in life  She was in her thirties.  Older than her husband, she was born in 1874.  She was married in 1907, aged thirty-three, and died aged forty-seven.


Once, perhaps because I was saucy, she told me that I came in the snow.  “Mama, I couldn’t help that,” I said.  “And you gave me a hard time,” she added.


What does a kid know about his mother’s having a hard time?  I thought she was telling me about shoveling snow.  I wonder now if those delayed pregnancies shortened her life.  She died when she was forty-seven.


I have sometimes wondered if birth-deliveries are painful owing to the infant’s reluctance to leave the womb.  I have wondered, too, if kissing and lightly stroking the mother’s abdomen during pregnancy, even talking to the little life within the womb, might not condition the child to an easier birth that would be a less traumatic experience for the mother.  The little life fairly leaping to see God’s great world would be for the mother a pleasant, endearing experience.  Again, would singing to the mother’s abdomen possibly engender offspring with a virtuoso’s voice?  Would prayer induce the birth of a saint?  I wonder. 


Dear Mother was a Saint, in her own way.


One night, while my father was absent from home, it began to rain, a heavy rain (which the Japanese call “za-za”).  We were sitting together in the kitchen of our home at Highland Court.  Suddenly, the door knob began to turn.  We had heard no sound of anyone outside.  No one had fingered the gate latch.  We were petrified.  Mother tried to distract us children.  But she could not conceal the concern on her face.  She remarked simply, “It’s a warning of some kind.  Someone is dying.”


The next day, a telegram arrived from Canada, telling my mother that her father was critically ill.  I was bundled off to Saint Bernard’s Convent with a request for prayers, addressed by Mother to the Presentation Sisters.  Mother was a prayerful person.  In time of trouble, she spontaneously turned to God.


I recollect how she came out of ether, after surgery, on one occasion.  She was singing away:  “Oh, Blessed Mother in Heaven…”  Heaven was very real to her.  

Mother was very devoted, too, to the Sacred Heart of Jesus.  My elder sister, Catherine Rita, inherited that trait.  I still see her affectionately patting the shoulder of the Sacred Heart of Jesus statue in Saint John’s Cemetery at Gardner.  She had espied the statue nearby and withdrew from us at the Briggs family plot.  Some of us accused her of trying to “get on the good side of Jesus.”


Once or twice Mother had asked me, “Everett, wouldn’t you like to be a priest?”  Of course, I did not.  I wanted to be riding that fine, shiny fire truck.


But when Mother died, I remembered her wish.  I became a priest according to the Order of Melchisadech.  Now, at 97 years of age, I have come through thick and thin, through perils of land and sea, through wartime imprisonment, bloodshed and disease, and I have never regretted my priesthood.


My father, the fifth child, was a well-built man of somewhat ruddy complexion, standing about five foot seven inches tall with a full crop of black hair, dancing eyes, a contagious smile, and a deep, melodious voice.  They said he sang like Al Jolson.  He had it all.


Apparently, this humble man had little or no knowledge of his ancestral greatness, his traceable relationship to many royal families in Europe and the Middle East.


In Europe, Father’s ancestry is traceable directly to Charlemagne, King of France, and Emperor of the West.  Father’s lineage was traceable also to his Carolingian-Italian ancestors; El Cid of Valencia; league of nations: German, Polish, Hungarian, Irish, English descent.


Yes, his was, also, the Merovingion-Carolingian ancestry, the name plagiarized by Dan Brown, author of the anti-Catholic Church Da Vinci Code, in short, a book of lies.


Father’s Jewish descent was traceable from Persia to the Exilarchs, something no Jew can do for himself.  Behemond, Guiscard, Tancredo, and Godfrey de Bovillon took father back to the Holy Land, on the Crusades fought in self-defense against the two-century onslaughts of the Mohammedan Muslim.


Islam would tire of killing Catholic Christians for a while in the 13th century.  In the year 1266, Kublai Khan learned that Nicolo Polo and Maffeo, his brother, were about to return home from their travels.  The Khan made these requests of them.  First they would accompany one of his officials named Khogatal on a mission to the See of Rome.  Khogatal  was to request that His Holiness would send to Kublai’s court one hundred men of learning, well-acquainted with the principles of the Christian religion.


Secondly, the Khan requested that the two brothers, on their return, would bring from Jerusalem some of the oil from the lamp kept burning over the sepulcher  of Our Lord Jesus Christ.  The Khan professed that he held Jesus in veneration as the true God.  (The Travels of Marco Polo by William Marsden, League of America, New York, 1948).


Next came the Armenian and Egyptian ancestors.  For the great Armenian, it would be a sorry day when the “Young Turks” went on their savage sprees.  Though Turkey denies it to this day, they decimated half of the Armenian race.  The Armenians had welcomed the Crusaders, and probably incurred the hatred of the Muslim Turks.


Allegedly, the Armenians are descended from Noah of the Ark, who was ninth generation from Adam and Eve.  Is their language all that is left of the words spoken in the Garden of Eden?


Without slighting the ladies, I was descended from Saints: Helen, Mother of Constantine, who discovered the relics of Jesus’ cross, Elizabeth of Hungary, Isabella of Coimbra (Portugal), not to mention two whom I personally had sainted:  Isabella of Spain, and forty-third great-grandmother, brave Lady Godiva of Coventry (England).


Allegedly, eighteen volumes of praise have languished in Vatican archives 
testifying to the saintly character of Isabella, wife of Ferdinand of Spain, because the Church is fearful of Jewish displeasure if the Spanish queen were canonized.


To me, that is a disgrace.  It is documented history that Isabella exiled conniving Jews who schemed for several centuries to destroy the Catholic faith of the Spanish nation.  To get at the bottom of the conspiracy, the Supreme Court, called Inquisition, using the methodology of the age, tortured suspected terrorists to ascertain the guilty.


Of course, it all depends on whose ox is gored.   No one was hanged and quartered in Spain, as were the Catholic bishops in England, under Henry VIII and daughter Elizabeth I.  Fiendish Northcliffe was not saying his prayers in the Tower of London.  The book Come Rack, Come Rope tells what happened there.


Isabella and Ferdinand told the Jews to shape up or ship out.  Most left Spain under humane conditions, allowed to take all their possessions except land and gold.


As for Lady Godiva, no one blames her as being a brazen nudist.


Nearest home, Father was descended from Thomas Rogers and Myles Standish of the Mayflower colony.  Through Polly Danforth, wife of Rev. Isaac Briggs, fifth from John Briggs of Taunton, Massachusestts, he was a scion of Pilgrim Thomas Rogers of the Mayflower.  Captain Myles was the only Catholic among the Pilgrim fathers.  In England, the Standish families were always Catholic.


Later would come distant cousin Abraham Lincoln of sainted memory.


On Mother’s side, the Hughes were among the six hundred pilgrims who paid their passage from Ireland to Prince Edward Island, Canada.  The Hughes traced ancestors back through Monaghan, to Armagh, the See of St. Patrick, no less.  Grandfather Owen could hark back to the tribe of Aodh, in ancient Ireland.


We love all our distant relatives.  If one of them had invented a recording machine, what joy now paradisiacal to hear their cherished voices.


Life was never dull with all the Briggs relatives near at hand.


After my father, came Aunt Margaret Jane whom we always called Jenny.  She was born in Winchendon in 1883.  Never married, she died young, aged thirty-five.   She and Uncle Fred had some subtle facial resemblance.  Frederick Melvinston was born in 1885.


Uncle Fred was a resolute, short man.  In his last illness, I called the ambulance to his door.  But he would have none of it.  He refused to leave his home.


Ernest Paul came next in the long line of births.  But he blessed his family with his presence only one year.  He died in 1887.


Then it was Uncle Edwin Charles.  He was born in January 1888.  He married Aunt Anna Brandt of Iowa.  After a few years in Fitchburg, he moved to Iowa with his wife.  In earlier years he was employed by the Post Office as a “letter carrier.”  He had his own horse and team.  Whenever he met me on Summer Street, he gave me a ride for a mile or two behind a tired horse.


At Council Bluffs, in Iowa, Edwin showed me where, in the valley below, they drove the Golden Spike, in Omaha, to interconnect both sections of the intercontinental railroad.


Uncle Edwin Briggs was inconsolable after the death of his wife, Anna Brandt.  Several times I arranged to meet him in some bus or railroad station  just to converse before returning home.  “I am so lonely,” he would say.  Several years afterward, he met a Mexican lady, Lucy de Gomes.  They married, and Uncle Edwin went to live with her in Acapulco and Mexico City.


One day a little girl, no more than fourteen years of age, came to their home looking for work.  Uncle Edwin was horrified.  “My dear,” he said to the young orphan, “we have no work here for you.  Actually, you should not be out working.  You should be going to school.  Come in and make your home with us.”  He later legally adopted the little girl.  When she married, the invitation proudly bore the name Briggs-Suarez.


Also, in Council Bluffs, lived Uncle Clarence, married to Aunt Martha Leik, sister to Aunt Anna.  Martha loaded me with expensive presents when I was on the way to Japan via San Francisco in 1933.


I regret I never managed to meet their children, although I spoke to some of them on the telephone.   

Mabel Etta was born in 1889.  She married Roy Bunker.   She was a twin with Uncle Clarence.  Born in Fitchburg, Mabel lived much of her time in nearby Leominster.  They were parents of cousins Francis, “Little Mabel,” and Emily.


Roy Bunker was a quiet, sociable man.  He loved his family and his home.  He was an expert mechanic, working at the lathe.


Francis married Eleanor O’Meara.  They had four children: Mary, who married John Creed of Roslindale; Carol, married to George Hillery; Robert, who married (1) Carol A. McAllister, (2) Mary E. Murray;  and John, married to Virginia C. McDonnell.

“Little Mabel” married Harry Olson, and Cousin Emily became a nun and went off to Korea as a missionary for fifteen years.


On my way to Japan as a missioner, I stopped in Leominster to say goodbye.  Aunt Mabel placed baby Emily in my arms.  I was scared to death.  Babies are flexible.  How would one hold an infant?  Aunt Mabel just laughed at my misery.


That is the great sacrifice of the celibate priesthood—never to have a child.


No. 12 was Aunt Alice Roseabelle, born 20 May 1891 in Fitchburg.  She married in 1910 William E. Ronayne of Worcester, born 1892.  They had a son, William Edward, who died in 1995.  His father was Worcester’s first volunteer to serve in World War I.  He died in 1911.


William Patrick, first son of William Edward and Helen Herard was born 12 August 1942 in Worcester.  William married 16 April 1983 Elaine Marie Johnson of War, West Virginia, born 1938.  Both William and Elaine served in the U.S. and overseas with the Central Intelligence Agency from 1965 to 1993.  Both were awarded the Career Intelligence Medal in 1993.


No. 13 was Frank Leslie, born 1894 in Fitchburg.  He was a World War I veteran, Purple Heart.  He had enlisted in the U.S. Navy at eighteen years of age.  During a German bombing, a splinter bounced off the deck of his ship and blinded young Uncle Leslie in one eye.  For years he sought a doctor who could heal his eye.  Perhaps they feared that if the surgery were unsuccessful, Uncle Leslie would be blind.


However, one day he found a physician who told Leslie that he would remove the cataract from his eye.  “What happened to this eye?” he asked.


Leslie related the incident, saying, “No use in looking at that eye.  I haven’t seen anything out of that eye since I was eighteen.”


“Hmmm,” said the doctor.  “If you had come to me earlier, I could have improved your sight in that eye so that you could distinguish night from day and so forth.”


Before his good fortune of finding that doctor, he had prayed to St. Lucy, patroness of the blind.  The dear, young Saint suffered in the Roman persecutions when they gouged out her eyes.  Leslie had made nine novenas, nine days of prayer, nine times.  He attributed his good fortune to Lucy, and every year, on her feast day, he stood outside his parish church, encouraging anyone with poor eyes to resort to young Saint Lucy.


Which reminds me about a book titled “Looking for a Miracle,” written by one Joe Nickels.  The book was a bigoted denial of every Catholic miracle shrine.


Personally, I rated it a miracle when I emerged from the baths at Lourdes, in France, with a heart greatly improved.  It was here where the Mother of Jesus appeared to a sick girl, Bernadette.  However, my heart has never let me down since that day long ago.  I was interned in Japan, a suspected spy in WW II, and they attempted to kill me with a lethal injection that almost stopped my heart.  I was left cyanotic, with resulting arrhythmias, but the condition has never worsened over the years.  I felt better when I came out of the waters at Lourdes.  Thereafter, I came close to death several times.  Still the improvement has been  long-lasting.  People like Nickels are the ones who need the services of an oculist.


Smile not at this humble man’s grateful faith!  As one makes an ass of himself by philosophizing after he has rejected philosophy, so one makes himself a hypocrite by religionizing after he has rejected religion.  Uncle Leslie received the boon of his prayers, in answer to his faith in the Divine.


Last but by no means least, Aunt Emily Elsie was born in Fitchburg on May 19, 1896.  I met her the last time on the occasion of Uncle Leslie’s death.  I was pastor then of three churches in West Virginia.  It was not easy to work into my busy schedule a trip by motorcar to Fitchburg, Massachusetts.


But I felt for Aunt Emily.  We were only twelve years apart.  Besides, I knew that she would be the last leaf on her many-leafed family tree.  Uncle Leslie died March 7, 1971.  The roads, snowbound and very icy all the way, were treacherous, especially when I reached Fitchburg.


I registered at the old Raymond Hotel.  There, I inquired about funeral homes.  I called the John R. Smith home on Water Street.  They mentioned the home where I would find Uncle Leslie.


There, at night, I rang the bell.  A lady from the lighted room came to the door.  I told her who I was.  I hushed her when she exclaimed, “From West Virginia?”  I asked her to break the news, so as not to alarm Aunt Emily.  But she did.  As I entered, I heard her exclaim, “From West Virginia?”


There young sailor Leslie lay.  He had spent the last years of his life with Emily.  The few faithful friends had not forgotten her—her teacher friends.  I was glad, too, that I had skidded over those long icy roads to be with her.


The ground was so frozen they could not open a grave.  So they interred Uncle Leslie in the mausoleum until spring.


Other deaths intervened, especially on my mother’s side.  Three of them occurred so closely together that I could not attend dear Emily’s funeral.  However, close relatives in nearby Leominster and the Boston vicinity were present.


Actually, I had appeared at St. John’s Cemetery in Gardner for two funerals so close together that the priest sympathized with me.  He realized I had come from West Virginia twice in ten days.


Dear Aunt Emily was known in Fitchburg as “The Beloved Teacher.”


After several years of teaching at the kindergarten level, Aunt Emily was appointed by the school board as principal of the Fourth Street School in Fitchburg, Massachusetts.  Education specialists were then emphasizing the importance of the kindergarten teacher.  The Superintendent of Schools wished Aunt Emily to accept one of the higher grades, as principal.  But she loved the little ones.  They became the light of her life in her later years  When Aunt Emily demurred, willing to forego her appointment as principal, the kindergarten teacher was allowed to become the principal.


On June 15, 1980, last of fifteen children, she died of a heart attack in Berkshire Manor Nursing Home in Fitchburg.  Those who witnessed the numerous turnout of teachers for her requiem at St. Bernard’s Church could not help remarking “all those old ladies walking with canes.”  The preacher eulogized Aunt Emily as “one of Fitchburg’s truly great teachers.”  Parents of the children whom she taught memorialized her kindness and devotion.


Aunt Emily was a devout Catholic.  Every night, before retiring, she used to get out her numerous prayer prints and recite all the prayers on those leaflets.  This she did with her last living brother, Leslie, until he died.


I remember Aunt Emily saying to me:  “Buddy, we are not so far apart—only  twelve years.  I am the last leaf on my family tree, and it may happen to you.  But there is a good side to death.”  I would learn that lesson in years to come.


Memorial Day is coming again.  But I no longer can make the rounds of father’s grave in Gardner, to mother’s and two sisters’ graves in Fitchburg, to brother Arthur’s grave among the graves of many Maryknoll missionaries in Ossining, NY.  More out of reach are the resting places of my dear Hughes relatives.


However, I am fortunate in having devoted cousins who will not forget the resting places of those I love.


As a last tribute to Aunt Emily from the one who she said was not far apart from her in age, let me remember my visits to her home in the staid, classic Phoenix Building at Upper Common Square at the end of Main Street in Fitchburg.  When I was able to walk to school, I could engineer the stroll to Aunt Emily’s apartment above the bank where Grandpa Briggs had left an endowment toward the funerals of each of his children.


From there, I could behold, in a sense of rapt awe, Fitchburg’s monument to the glacier age: the Rollstone Boulder.  It sat high on the hill, on the other side of Upper Common.  Later in life, as a recognized poet, I tried to resurrect in verse the history of that silent old stone brooding on that hill.

Rollstone Boulder

Rollstone Boulder, tell me the tale,

How you were rolled from hill to vale.

Tell me about your primal home

Long before you began to roam.

Were you a pebble once, great Stone,

Swept up with grasses and the bone

Of some forgotten ancient man?

Oh, tell me, great Stone, if you can.

Were you the pawn of glacier’s maw

Hill and vale in its mauling claw?

How came you here, on Fitchburg’s hill,

Only to end, in this niche so still?

What treasures have you been hiding,

In your deep silence abiding?

We think you poor, but you are rich,

Though stand you there without a stitch.

Come share your treasures.  With me share

What you collected if you dare.

Just one ancestral, ancient piece

To my yearning gaze, please release.


Although glaciology is not my cup of tea, I did some research, prompted by Fitchburg’s Rollstone Boulder.


A glacier, I learned, is a huge mass of ice and snow that forms where the rate of snowfall exceeds the rate of snow melt.  The huge gob moves slowly outward like the iceberg on water, moving down the parent mountain, covering everything in its way, until it melts and breaks away, as it did in Fitchburg.


The latest epoch in a glacial period which covered much of the earth was the Pleistocene, 600,000 years ago, in the latter Quaternary period.  In this epoch, great glaciers covered much of North America and Northwest Europe.


This was the age of the giant mammals, and, late in the Pleistocene, the appearance of modern man, a little fellow in the hugeness of his milieu.  Pay no attention to the evolutionists.  The first apelike man appeared in Africa in the Pliocene epoch, ten million years earlier.  Modern man had the world to himself.


In Pleistocene days, in Massachusetts, the now low hills of Wachusett rose high in the sky, snowcrowned.  The snow was in no hurry to melt.  Even on Mt. Fuji in Japan, some fourteen thousand feet high, the cone is clad in snow year-round.  It rises out of an ancient volcanic crater where there was no snow the day I climbed in June 1934.


The prevailing wisdom has it that a glacier broke away from Mt. Monadnock, New Hampshire, and left the precious Boulder or it just melted there to rest its weary bones, in Fitchburg.  If I were young again, and equipped with a metal detector, I would seek the secrets of this ancient stone.  Better would be an x-ray And Aunt Emily, if she were still here, would smile and say in a positive tone: “Buddy, you would never know….”


An occasional visitor was an elderly lady nearby.  A bit pickled, she used to call on my mother for words of comfort in her sorrow.  My mother, who wouldl not offend a flea, always put up with her.  The woman would sweep me off the floor in her strong arms, clasp me to her breast, and seat herself on a rocking chair.  Then she would rock me wildly.  That was enough to terrify little me, about four years old.  She would breathe all over me the toxin of her alcohol.  Probably, these experiences turned me against alcohol in all its forms.


My poor mother would pityingly and patiently observe the demonstration.  When it was over and the poor soul had gone home, my mother would explain that the other woman was lonely and sad.


Another casual caller always rejoiced us.  She was somewhat elderly, short and lean.  In her repertory, she always treated us to the plight of a drunk.  She would portray him fumbling at the knob of the door after a séance with an old friend, who, like him, fairly adored the amber tonic.


At last he opened the door and went out, into the broom closet.  There he started to pound and kick the wall, shouting, “There is no door in this place!”  We kids and our mother laughed until our sides were sore.


My first school days were spent in a public school kindergarten. I remember a box of short red sticks to do what I have forgotten.  An event of more importance looms in my mind.


The teacher placed a lighted candle on the floor.  We were all lined in a row and told to jump, in turn, over the candlestick while someone played the piano singing, “Jack be nimble, Jack be quick.  Jack jump over the candlestick.”


Well, when it was my turn, I just stood there before the candle.  I hesitated.  The teacher kindly asked if I was afraid.  I explained that it was dangerous, that my mother had always told us to stay away from fire.


The dear soul didn’t want to take sides against my dear mother, so she blew out the candle.  “Now, Everett, will you jump over the candle?”  Over I went, with a sort of ballet leap.


I do not know if schools abolished the flaming candle, but something like that happened in the Catholic church.  On the feast of St. Blaise, the priest came to us, on our knees, at the altar rail.  He held two crossed candles, alight, and invoked the blessing.


Later, the candles were not lighted.  It may have been that the flame endangered the girls’ long hair.


In kindergarten, we tried to spell “candle.”  No, it was not “candal.”  Several grades later, it would be “scissors,” not “skizzers.”


In the third grade in St. Bernard’s School, in spite of lost time, I seemed to have an aptitude for reading and spelling.  There was a boy in the class who had a dreadful time reading.  The dear nun had made up her mind that no child would leave her class until he or she could read.


So every day, it was back to Lesson One of the primer, and the screaming first lines:  “Little Mary Brown does not like to study.  She does not like work of any kind.”  The teacher would read a word or two and the boy would try to repeat them.  Back and forth they kept at it.  By the time they got to the end of the first sentence, I was ready to scream.


Unable to restrain myself, I blurted out the whole sentence, word by word, with gritted teeth.  The boy looked at me, and he resented my invading his turf.  The nun looked at me, in shock.  “Master Briggs, you stay after school!” she said.


So there I was, my lunch delayed at home a bit.  Alone in that big room, I surveyed my surroundings for a word of comfort.


There was that sheet of shining, virginal blackboard.  And those nice, white fingers of chalk!  I began to write short, declarative sentences, as the spirit moved me.

1. This is St. Bernard’s School.

2. This school is on Water Street.

3. There is no water on Water Street.

Then I heard a noise at the door, and in the opening, the face of a young, smiling

nun.  Another asked her, “What is he up to now?”


I picked up the eraser.  In the two sailed.  Sternly they warned me, “Don’t you dare erase a word on that blackboard, Master Briggs.”  Of course, I was somewhat paralyzed for the moment.


One nun laughingly read each sentence to the other, who laughingly approved each sentence.  “Now you may go home, Master Briggs.”  But the episode did not end there.  The next day, the teacher handed me a more advanced reader, as if to say, “Try that for size.”  She encouraged me, saying, “If you do not understand a word, come up and ask the teacher and she will explain it.”


One day, I came to “scissors.”  Up I trooped to the teacher.  I asked her:  “Teacher, what is this ‘skizzers’?”


“We say ‘scissors’.”


“Well, the word is misspelled.  It is ‘skizzers.’”


“We say ‘scissors.’”  With a motion of thumb and forefinger, she added, “We cut things with scissors.”


“Thank you, teacher,” I said, perplexed and not wholly convinced.  


They plied me with advanced readers as long as I attended that school.


One afternoon, in the fifth grade, a boy across the aisle asked me for an answer to a question on a test.  I had no idea what he was talking about.  He kept at it, pestering me until I said yes to his question.  Then up went his hand with the lie:  “Teacher, Everett Briggs told me the answer.”


Without the least questioning of the culprit, the teacher said, “Stand up and hold out your hand.”  She gave me a whack with a yardstick.  I was so shocked that I held out my hand, expecting more punishment.  So I got another whack.  Bristling at the injustice of it all, I shouted out, “Liar!”


At recess, other boys surrounded me, trying to make sense of it all.  I told them he drove me to desperation, and that I said anything to be relieved of the nuisance.  The boys sympathized with me, and later they must have told the teacher the truth because the next day the rogue’s mother appeared on the scene and she must have paddled him in righteous anger.  That happened before I came in the classroom, after lunch.


I looked at the boy, noticing that he appeared to be some sort of refurbished creature.  The teacher looked at me with some sort of redeeming regard which I never appreciated.


In school, however, the mischievous lad was at a disadvantage.  While some kind teacher always spoke understandingly to win the lad over, others were ever ready to paddle the buttocks.


To the well-dressed, well-fed boy, school was a pleasant experience.  But to the lad of poor estate, the boy from the home with one lamp, school was a place of uncertain fates.


I remember one poor boy who got tired of the paddle.  He could not adjust to school.  He may have been undernourished.  When the teacher began scolding him, he got so upset that he pulled the ink well out of his desk and threatened to throw it at his persecutor.  Then, it was the established routine all over again, off to the male principal for a shellacking.


Trouncing in school was rather a general practice.  A woman in another state once told me that her school days opened with the teacher asking how many had not done their homework.  The kids who had some sort of excuse, even if imagined, never got a hearing.  In the honesty of early age, they told the truth to the teacher.


Out they went to the corridor for the paddle.  In the classroom, they could hear the whack-whacks and the resultant crying.  My informant said: “We were holding tight to the seats of our chairs, wondering if we would be next.”


Well, in my childhood, the poor were not receiving the care legislature provides today.  Salvation Army is the one name I remember now.  Perhaps, there were other helping hands.  However, I knew the boy who threatened to direct the ink well at his teacher.


He used to argue with his mother, refusing to go to school.  Perhaps, he had not adjusted, in the earlier years.  He always appeared sickly and malnourished to me.  Only the tenderhearted teacher would suspect that boy’s problem.  They were out there, like Aunt Emily.  Sisters Mary Leo and Dorothea and Greta Mike of Monongah, West Virginia, but they were too widely scattered.


I remember when, at thirty-five years of age, I was studying at Fordham University in New York City for my M.A. in Education.  The female teachers in class told me that in their New York they insisted that at least one male teacher serve on the faculty.  He was there also as a sort of security guard lest the unruly aspire to take over the class.


In one school was my dear classmate, James C.   He had devised his own technique.  He said:  “I just awe them with gibberish, plain, unmitigated, unmeaningful gibberish.”  Boys who escaped duly chastened would warn their friends about that “dangerous man.”  In that peaceful atmosphere, good order reigned.  It takes all kinds to make a world.


I now understand how childhood trauma can engender the abnormalities of one’s later life.  Another Briggs relative, distant and collateral, Dr. Lloyd Vernon Briggs, one of Massachusetts’ early alienists, inspired the “Briggs Law” that requires a psychiatric examination of any criminal condemned to death.


Speaking of lunch, we kids thought nothing of traipsing four or five roundtrip miles to home and back to school.  No one regarded the mileage in terms of vaunted physical therapy.  Wasn’t walking one of the baby’s earliest activities?  Walking would graduate into medical science, at a later date.


We boys could leave school by way of Water Street or Middle Street.  Since the girls’ school exited on Middle Street, boys more often left that avenue to them.  But there were times boys remembered that the Creator said it was not good for man to be alone.


On Water Street in Fitchburg, first on the right side, was the John R. Smith funeral home.  We kids who attended a wake, often wondered why the sleeping ones never awake while we are there.  We were satisfied, like the disciples of Jesus, with the kind explanation that “they are sleeping.”


I remember my little nephew Joey D’Mello looking at his father in the coffin and asking me:  “Is he sleeping?”  Of course, I said yes, and eventually, Jesus would awaken him on Resurrection Day.


The John R. Smith funeral home cherished fond memories for me, and would cherish more of them, in years to come.  Dear Aunt “Jenny” (Margaret Jane) died during Holy Week.  Since the church proper was duly reserved for commemoration of the dead and resurrected Jesus, her requiem Mass could not be offered there.  It was offered in the chapel downstairs.


Intending to attend Aunt Jennie’s requiem, I was too late.  Already the hearse had started on the way to St. John’s Cemetery in Gardner.  Galloping madly, I caught up with the first coach, following the hearse.  Although I ran beside the coach, even peered through the window, no one noticed me.  To be sure, they were not expecting such an aberration.  The cab outran me.  It was a sad day for me.  Humble, quiet Aunt Jenny in quest of love was gone, at thirty-one years of age.


This thing called death became a monstrous fear for me, one I would fight to conquer for many years to come.


Across the street, on the left, loomed the spires of St. Bernard’s Church.  Neatly, at the side, was the rectory, the “Priest’s Home.”  Then, along the way, still on the left side of the street, was the small store that sold all sorts of small wares.  Often, when we had a penny to splurge, we purchased a dill pickle.


The Scotchman says:  “Many a mickle makes a pickle.”  So many a penny bought many a pickle out of the same brine barrel.  Eventually, on the right side of Water Street, stood the blood-red brick Fire House.  To the left of that, we were heading for the Fifth Street bridge.


Just before that intersection, on the right side of the street, stood the awesome figure of the Police Officer, eyes sharp on any designing rascal.  Why, I do not know, the kids referred to his highness as “donkey,”  Well, one afternoon, I happened to be on that side of Water Street.  I stopped before his majesty and roguishly smiled broadly up at him.


His majesty interpreted the gesture as mocking.  He clapped his huge hands around my head and boxed my ears.


Therewith he sternly warned me:  “The next time I’ll put your name in my book.”  Boy, oh boy, said I to myself as I continued down the street, did he mean that he would keep track of those folks for another beating?


Later, I would hear a similar story of an event that happened in Springfield.  A young enterprising fellow had purchased a Model T Ford.  After he came home from work, he would take his treasured trophy out for a spin.


Down Main Street he would clatter, making what the local gals denounced as ungodly decibels of noise.  “Office Hanly,” they would say, “are you never going to arrest that disturbance of the peace?”  Hanly would labor to put a permissible complexion on the incident.  Sure, he only came through town on that contraption once a day.  He wasn’t hurting anybody.  And if the contraption was moving, well, that was the nature of the beast.


The logic of the argument was lost on the irate ladies.  They had their day, and they were bound to have it their way.  So the poor, plagued officer promised to talk it over with the miscreant.  Sure enough, clatter, clatter again the next evening.  “Stop in the name of the Law!



“Young man, you are disturbing the peace with that infernal thing.  Put your name in my book.”  This the miscreant did with great aplomb, and roared away.  The curious ladies were curious about the name in the officer’s book.  “What name did he write, Officer?”  The good man was not exactly well-educated.  “See for yourself!” he said, as he held out his book.  What to the avid gaze of the curious ladies appeared, but the name “Cement Block.”


It was a bridge, quite imposing for a small city, poised as it was high over a deep valley which housed some mills of various kinds.  But the more educated and the “snoopish” preferred the name Fifth Street Viaduct.


Of course, to the Briggses whose original name was Bridge, this viaduct was humorous.  A bridge was a bridge!  At the end of the bridge, we turned right, then right and left again to our own little sanctuary on the fruitful acre.


At times, however, for no good reason, boys would traipse the Fifth Street bridge by way of Middle Street.  Perhaps they could not resist enjoying the company of the girls.  So this fine day, I joined the Middle Street detachment.


As I loped along, suddenly I heard a girl screaming.  Who could it be, and where, I asked a fellow.  Up ahead, he said:  “I think it is your sister.”  I galloped forward, and there she was—my sister Rita.  A big dog had his teeth around her right ankle.


Immediately, I kicked his jaw.  But the dog would not release his hold.  I kicked again, to no effect.  In desperation, I ran to the side of the road and plucked a rock off a wall.  Knowing that the nose is the most vulnerable part of a dog, I slammed the rock down on the dog’s nose.  Immediately, he released his grip, and staggered away toward the wall.  With sister Rita, I went home, fuming at canines that acted like cannibals.


On my way back to school, after lunch at home, I noticed, in fresh white chalk, the letters E.B. inscribed on rung after rung of an iron fence enclosing a sumptuous residence.


Of course, I was curious.  But when I entered my classroom, a boy blurted out to the teacher: “Everett Briggs killed a dog!”


The nun stared at me.  With pursed lips, she seemed to say:  “I would do well to keep an eye on that fellow.”
. 
Was it Fate that led me down Middle Street instead of Water Street?  Or my Guardian Angel?  And the owner of the miscreant dog?  


My brother Arthur came down with diphtheria.  Dear Mother and sister Rita contracted it  Mother died of it, her throat dreadfully swollen.  They called it diphtheritic paralysis.


I remember coming home from school for lunch, at noon.  I was alarmed.  Two men were leaving the house with a woman lying on the stretcher.  I asked Arthur:  “Who is that?”


He said:  “It is Mama.”


“Where are they taking her?”


He said: “To the hospital.”  I walked straight up to the stretcher and kissed her.  She must have been unconscious.  I turned away, hoping that somehow Mother knew what had happened to her.


That night, I slipped out of Grandfather’s home and stole across town to the grounds of Burbank Hospital.  I lay on a bank, looking through the trees at the brightly illuminated buildings.  But I was afraid to go farther.  Ever since, I have kicked myself for my cowardice.  One day, I would be brave.  Yes, I would go to the extremes, and spontaneously do things others would label rash.


About noon, on December 8, 1921, I stole to the telephone and called Burbank Hospital in Fitchburg.  Simulating the voice of an adult, I inquired how Mrs. Briggs was feeling.  “Mrs. Briggs?” came the reply.  “Why, Mrs. Briggs died yesterday.”  The silence gave rise to apprehension, on the other end of the line.  “Who is this?  Who is this?”  The phone had slipped from my hand.  They had kept the news from us children, not knowing how to break it.


Little sister Willetta Annie, baby of the family, had noticed my consternation.  She was quick to suspect the worst.  


My little “feisty” Annie clung to me.  Again and again:  “What did they say?”


“I think they said something about a Mrs. Johnson.”


I must have been in shock because as I joined the family with Arthur and Rita, I fell to the floor in a dead faint.  I still remember the sight of the glass claw at the foot of the leg of the table.  I came through, little Annie wiping my face with cold water.  I must have been in the faint a short time.  Surely it took time to find a basin, a face cloth and water, once they got me to my feet.  “Poor Mama is dead…long ago,” I kept moaning.


I never fainted again.  Never again, not even when they tried to kill me in a wartime prison camp by lethal injection.


Mother was a prophetess.  Once she said:  “I hope I never have to leave you.  You will cry such salty tears….”

Mother died on December 7, 1921.  Father would leave us afterwards.


Catherine Rita came down with heart trouble, and after a spell on a ventilator died early one morning in Beth Israel Hospital in Boston, Mass., on February 5, 1980.


Seven years later, on Feast of the Annunciation to Mary, brother Arthur left us after heart surgery, in St. Teresa’s Residence at Maryknoll Seminary, Ossining, N.Y. on 25 March 1987.


Seven years later, my little Annie Etta left me on July 9, 1994.  Three years earlier, she came down with a stroke after surgery, which left her bereft of voice.


After Mother’s death, I never recovered from a sense of loneliness.  I fairly hated the thought of death.  After all, didn’t God Himself think there was something out of place with death in his wondrous scheme of things?  At the grave of Lazarus, his friend, says the Bible:  “Jesus was deeply troubled.”


When Mother died, it was like the end of the world for me.  There are crises in one’s life in which one is alone, alone in the desert of his soul.  He cannot get help from others, even from family or friends.  There is no transference.  You must come to grips with the situation by yourself.  I wore a black armband almost a year, until the crepe material began to tear.  I was then in the seventh grade of grammar school in Stoneham, Massachusetts.  The Korean adage was certainly true, but of little comfort to me:  “You cannot stay in the valley and see the full moon set.”


I had stood beside my mother’s casket in the John R. Smith Funeral Home in Fitchburg.  Aunt Emily asked:  “Do you wish to kiss Mama?”  I turned to stone until she gently drew me aside.  My whole life was in pieces.


Mother could not be dead!  Other people died.  But not Mother.  No one had even intimated death to us children during her illness.  Still I overheard a doctor say:  “Mrs. Briggs, you are going downhill.”  But I could not, at that age, fit that piece into the jigsaw puzzle of my life.


My dear, lamented mother was a deeply religious person.  I remember her singing at Christmastime “Little Town of Bethlehem.”  At other times, she often sang other hymns titled especially “O Sacred Heart” and “O Blessed Mother in Heaven.”


Every night she prayed aloud for us children.  I hear it, “When we wake and see the light, God has kept us through the night.  Thank you, Blessed God!”


I know she beholds the face of Jesus in his Paradise now.  I am not one who thinks only canonized Saints are in Heaven.  As I stood, a thirteen-year-old boy, at Mother’s grave, looking down at her coffin in that deep cleft of earth, Aunt Emily drew me away, and one of the mourners, Agnes Preston, said sympathetically:  “Everett, your mother was an angel.”


My mother’s face, in death, was calm, serene, remote from the agony of diphtheritic paralysis, relieved of trial and the hard life.  Never had she been small or mean.  She always was forgiving, sometimes to the point of maddening me.
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